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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

JON A. ST. PIERRE,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:14-cv-01866 (VAB)

TAWANNA et al,
Defendants

RULING AND ORDER ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Jon A. St. Pierre (“Riintiff”), incarcerated at Osbo@orrectional Institute in Somers,
Connecticut, has sued current and former egg#s of Correctional Managed Health Care
(“CMHC”) and the University of Connecticilanaged Health Care Center (“UConn Health”)
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Specifically, Mr. St. Pielteges violations of rights guaranteed to him
under the First and Eight Amendments to th8.Constitution and asserts claims of medical
malpractice under Connecticut State faw.

The incidents at issue allegedly took placelevNr. St. Pierre was incarcerated at
Corrigan-Radgowski Correctional Center (“Ggan”) and MacDougall-Walker Correctional
Institute (“MacDougall”). He seeks declarat@myd injunctive relief and money damages.

Defendants have moved for summary judgment.

For the following reasons, the motionGRANTED.

L At the outset, the Court notése work of appointed counsédenneth A. Votre. Mr. Votre
came into this case, after it had been on the ddokeome time, and has devoted considerable
time and effort on Mr. St. Pierre’s behalf.

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/connecticut/ctdce/3:2014cv01866/106767/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/connecticut/ctdce/3:2014cv01866/106767/123/
https://dockets.justia.com/

FACTUAL AND PROCEDUR AL BACKGROUND

Mr. St. Pierre alleges th&amuel Berkowitz, DPM, and Vinayak Sathe, MD, who were
been affiliated with UConn Health, deprived himaofequate medical treatment resulting in cruel
and unusual punishment in violation of the EigAthendment. He also asserts that Kym Martin,
RN, Heidi Greene, RN, and Tawanna Furtick, RMjo are or once were affiliated with CMHC,
similarly deprived him of adequate medical treatment as well as retaliated against him for filing
grievances against medical staff at UConn Health and CMHC.

A. Factual Allegations

The initial injury allegedly ocurred in March 2012, while M&t. Pierre was incarcerated
at Garner Correctional Institution (“Garner§ec. Am. Compl. § 12. Inmates at Garner are
allegedly required to keep thgiroperty in foot lockerdd.  13. The foot lockers, allegedly
made of heavy steel, are opened by pglthe steel door down towards the flddr.{ 14. While
Mr. St. Pierre was retrieving a bag of coffee fritva foot locker, the cover allegedly came down
on his left foot, injumg his foot and toesd. § 13. Specifically, theobt locker door allegedly
clamped down and “blew his toenail off and crushed his tde{ 16.

1. Samuel Berkowitz, DPM

Mr. Berkowitz, a doctor of podidat medicine, is currently aAssistant Pradssor in the
Department of Orthopedic Surgery at the Unsitgrof Connecticut Medical School. Pl.’'s SMF §
1.

On March 21, 2012, Mr. Berkowitz treated Nbt. Pierre, because Mr. St. Pierre had

allegedly injured his right foctld. | 4. He testified that, after @mining Mr. St. Pierre’s right

2 The Complaint refers to Nurse Furtick solely as Tawanna.

3 0On January 4, 2012, Dr. Berkowitz examined afphisunion on Mr. St. Pige’s left foot. Pl.’s
SMF 1 2. Dr. Berkowitz diagnosédr. St. Pierre wth hallux-valgus with osteoarthritigd. He
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foot, he diagnosed Mr. St. Pierre with a contusion and a possible fracturkt fpé. Dr.
Berkowitz ordered an x-ragf Mr. St. Pierre’s toedd. Dr. Berkowitz testified that Mr. St.
Pierre’s toes were dressed with Band-Aids andintic ointment to be re-applied daily for five
days, and Dr. Berkowitz orderedshower shoe for Mr. St. Pierrel. Mr. St. Pierre contends,
however, that he sougtieatment for an injury to his left fodd.

According to Dr. Berkowitz, a radiolagfiinterpreted the x-ray he orderedl,{ 5, and
found “[n]o acute bony or join space injury” in Mr. St. Pierre’s “[r]right great toe.” Castro
Report, Def.’s SMF, Ex. 6 at 4, ECF No. 105light of this finding, Dr. Berkowitz thought no
further care was necessary. Defs.” SMF { 5.

On May 2, 2012, Dr. Berkowitz again saw Mr. Bierre. Pl.’'s SMF { 6. Mr. St. Pierre
then complained of pain from the bunion on his left fahtDr. Berkowitz again advised him
that he should wear shoes with a witlee box, and counseled against surgiety.

In early June 2012, a nurse treated Mr. Sdrris right big toe for an infection and
provided him with warm compresses and antibioti¢sY 7. Dr. Glassmaha podiatrist,
removed the medial edge of Mr.. Bierre’s right big toe nail toure the infection which had not
responded to antibiotickd. T 8. Mr. St. Pierre’s bieved that some nail edge remained at the
surgical sight of his right big toand saw Dr. Berkowitz on June 13, 2002 9. Dr.

Berkowitz removed the remaining portion of the in-grown ndil.

advised Mr. St. Pierre agatrsurgical intervention, havingetermined that surgery was
unnecessary and the condition could be tcebiewearing shoesith a wider toe boxld. Dr.
Berkowitz noted that surgery may provide benelitg,that surgery also agad with it potential
risks.Id. 1 3.

4 A number of individuals in ik cases are referenced soleyya surname throughout the record.
The Court will refer to such individuals accordingly.
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On July 31, 2012, Dr. Valletta saw Mr. St. Piedree to complaints about an in-grown
toenail of the right third todd. § 10. Dr. Valletta prescribed amtifungal cream and antibiotics
to treat the infectionid. The following day, Dr. Berkowitz removed the in-grown toeridil
11.

Dr. Berkowitz saw Mr. St. Pierre on Octol#r2012, and cut the nail edge of an in-
grown nail on Mr. St. Pierre’s left big tokel. § 12. Dr. Berkowitz also saw Mr. St. Pierre on
various other occasions during his incarcerasiod provided him with medical care, as did
UCHC and CMHC medical professiondid. 1 13.

2. Vinayak Sathe, MD

Dr. Vinayak Sathe, a medical doctor, is emtty an Assistant Bfessor in orthopedic
surgery at the University of Coaaticut Health Center and spdizas in foot and ankle surgery.
Pl.’s SMF | 15.

Dr. Sathe has performed sevesafgeries on Mr. St. Pierre thie Health Center, the first
on September 5, 201RI. {9 16—17. This surgery was to corradiunion on Mr. St. Pierre’s left
big toe that would alleviate paMr. St. Pierre had reported exj@ncing, correct the deformity,
and correct a mild hammer toe on his left second toe, if neceBLelfy.7.

In advance of the surgery, Dr. Sathe explaitiee procedure to M6t. Pierre, including
its risks and benefits, and obtaihieis consent to perform “firshetatarsal corrective osteotomy
plus modified McBride release, osteotomy of the proximal phalanx plus any related procedures

plus second hammertoe correctiénd.  18.

5> Osteotomy is the “dividing of a bone, or #ecision of part of it. Random House Webster's
Unabridged Dictionary 1371 (2d ed. 2001).
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Dr. Sathe testified that, during surgery,dperated according to medical standards for a
surgery of its kindld.  19. Dr. Sathe opined that, after cdetipg the procedures, he examined
the left big and second toes and determinedimatt. Pierre would natequire any additional
procedures during the surgery, which would hactuded an osteotomy in the second bone of
his left big toe and tendon rekee in his left second toel. § 20. Mr. St. Pierre, however,
contends that Dr. Sathe removed the wrong sfdes bone during sgery, exacerbating the
condition and Mr. St. Pierre’s pain. St. Pieffé. {1 29-31. The experience, Mr. St. Pierre
testified, left him using crutches for several monttisy 31.

On May 1, 2014, Dr. Sathe performed a secamgery. Sathe Aff. § 11. This surgery
was due to a mild return of the bunion on Mr.F8erre’s left big toe, a hammer toe of his left
second toe, and pain Mr. St. Pieattributed to the screw Dr. 8@ affixed in his big toe during
the first surgeryld. I 11. Mr. St. Pierre maintains that Bathe informed Mr. St. Pierre that he
would perform surgery to Mr. St. Pierre’s left faotcorrect for the first surgery. St. Pierre Aff. q
39.

Dr. Sathe testified that, irdaance of the second surgery,ehglained to Mr. St. Pierre
the risks and benefits of undergoing thegsuy. Defs.” SMF  24. By way of a written
authorization form, Mr. St. Pier@legedly consented to a “firstetatarsal corrective osteotomy
plus modified McBride release, plus akiwsteotomy plus secondrmanertoe corrective plus
any related procedure.” Sathe Aff. § 12. Mr. 8atbined that the surgery proceeded as planned
and was effective in correcting the deformitiessatie. Defs.” SMF { 27. Mr. St. Pierre asserts
that his foot ailments persisted. Pl.’s SMF | 27.

Dr. Sathe performed a third surgery on November 13, 2014. Defs.” SMF | 28. Dr. Sathe

explained that Mr. St. Pierre’s left, second toe was “cocked up” and required remedial surgery.



Sathe Aff. 1 16. Before this surgery, Dr. Sathe @xgld to Mr. St. Pierrthe risks and benefits
of surgery, and Mr. St. Pierre, by written lamtization, consented to the left foot second
hammertoe correction plus second metatarsabtustey plus fusion of the toe plus any related
procedure. Pl.’'s SMF { 29. Dr. {8a testified that he explainéal Mr. St. Pierre that this
procedure on his left second toe had a highefilikod of failure due to a congenital deformity
of his left, second toe and due to scaring ftmprevious surgery. Defs.” SMF { 30. Mr. St.
Pierre, for his part, asserts that this thircgsuy was to correct for “damage done” during the
first two surgeries that Dr. Sathad performed. St. Pierre Aff. § 4e further claims that the
third surgery was “problematic” because of ithiervening time since the two earlier surgeries
and a “deterioration” of his medical condition. St. Pierre Aff. | 42.

Dr. Sathe opined that the third surgery proceeded according to plan and was effective in
correcting the targeted fdemity in Mr. St. Pierre’s lefsecond toe. Defs.” SMP { 32. Mr. St.
Pierre maintains that it was during this suygthiat he suffered nerve damage to his foot,
“causing it to become deformé St. Pierre Aff. ] 4243.

Dr. Sathe testified that buom surgery and hammertoe correction can be effective in
alleviating pain, but there @ways a likelihood of reoccuence. Pl.’s SMF { 34. Although Mr.
St. Pierre experienced some reoccurrence aéfisrmity, Dr. Sathe opined that he was satisfied
with each surgery and considered them to be effective. Defs.” SMF { 36.

3. Kym Martin, RN

Kym Martin is a registered nse. Pl.'s SMF § 39. She preugly worked for CMHC as a

correctional nurse and was assigned to @arriRadgowski Correctional Center from 2008 until

2015 to provide medical care to inmateks 1 40—41.



Nurse Martin saw Mr. St. Pierre on September 7, 2013, after he was admitted to the
infirmary at Corrigan. Pl.’s SMF { 41. After sbetered his cell, the doctosed, and Mr. St.
Pierre, who was lying in bed atethime not near the door, yellagprofanity at Nurse Martin and
accused her of hurting his fodd. Nurse Martin said she was caséd given that the bed, and
Mr. St. Pierre in it, weraot positioned near the dodd. She administered Tylenol No. 3 to him
as he requestett.

Nurse Martin testified that she saw Nit. Pierre on October 5, 2015, noting that he
rested in bed, with his eye®sed, most of the nightd. § 42. She provided i with two tablets
of Tylenol No. 3 at 5:45 a.m., and, after feliag up with him later, determined that the
medication was effectivéd.

Mr. St. Pierre testified that, the followirtly, Nurse Martin entered his cell to deliver
breakfast. St. Pierre Aff. § 57. Although she placed his cellmate’s food tray on the table, she
allegedly dropped his tray on the floor and sailito that, if he did nostop writing grievances,
she was going to make his life “a living hell.” Bierre Aff. § 57. He claims that Nurse Martin
threatened to allege that Mr. St. Pierre “flasheat as a way to rid her of him for alleged sexual
harassment, as she allegedly had done to someont&lefs88. Mr. St. Pierre testified that these
statements made him nervous and afraid thateNMiatin may actually take action against him.
Id. 1 59. Mr. St. Pierre filed a petition against Nukgartin with the Connecticut Department of
Public Health, which was ultimately dismissed. PEMF { 45. Mr. St. Pierre claims that Nurse
Martin has a reputation for “setting up” inmates and fabricating disaiglireports. St. Pierre
Aff. § 56.

Records indicate that Nurse Martin saw Mt. Pierre on various other occasions to

provide him with medication, inatling Tylenol No. 3 and Percocet his request. Pl.'s SMF |



43. Nurse Martin denies that she ever threatémad dropped his food tray, or withheld medical
care from Mr. St. Pierréd. She claims to have acted professionally at all times and to have
provided Mr. St. Pierre with @djuate medical care and medications as ordered by the doctor.
Martin Aff. § 10.

4. Heidi Greene, RN

Heidi Greene is currently a nursing supeovitor CMHC and assigned to MacDougall.
Greene Aff. § 2, Defs.” SMF, Ex. 5, ECF Ni©3-7. From October 2008 to March 2015, she was
a correctional nurse assigned to MacDougddllf 3. Her duties principally included staffing,
scheduling, supervising nursevaluating staff, and touring the facility. Pl.’'s SMF { 48.

On May 1, 2014, Mr. St. Pierre reted to MacDougall from surgerid. 1 49. The on-
call physician ordered five milligrams of Oxycodameery six hours, if needed, for three days
and a bottle of Tylenol for pain managemedt On May 4, 2014, Dr. Pillai ordered five
milligrams of Oxycodone every eight hours for three did:s 50. Three days later, the on-call
physician saw Mr. St. Pierre anddered an immediate two-tablise of Oxycodone and five
milligrams, three times daily, for four days and twice daily for two days to folbv. 51. Mr.

St. Pierre’s medical records indicate thatwas administered Oxycodone from May 1, 2014,
through May 9, 2014, as prescribed. Def.’s SMF {Mi2.St. Pierre contads that he received
pain medication as prescribed on two dayyomh the other days, Nurse Greene allegedly
administered Motrin. St. Pierre Aff. § 71.

Nurse Greene testified that, on May 9, 20141:80 p.m., she received a call from the
CMHC pharmacy director to inform her that nurses were removing medication from the
medication electronic storagesgenser withauproper authorization. Pl.’s SMF § 53. Nurse

Greene explained that she spekth the on-call physician, Dr. [Rlante, at approximately 4:50



p.m. that day, and he discontinued the oxycodomeprescribed Motrin to Mr. St. Pierre.
Greene Aff. § 13. According to Mr. St. Pierre@dical chart, Mr. St. Pierre’s oxycodone
prescription “[did] not meeEMHC policy and med should be changed.” May 9, 2014, Notation
at 24, Def.’s SMF, Ex. 6, ECF No. 10Bhe note further details@hNurse Greene called “on
call MD + informed of above + noted APAPns#tivity. N.O. obtained for Motrin. Pharmacy
nurse notified.1d. Nurse Greene explained that Mr. Bierre’s Oxycodone prescription was
prescribed without the requisinon-formulary authorizein—a CMHC physician can only
prescribe a non-formulary medication by submitting a non-formulary request to the CMHC
medical director approval. Greene Aff. § Nurse Greene testified that Mr. St. Pierre refused
the Motrin.Id.

Mr. St. Pierre counters by stating that Nurse Greene refused to provide him with post-
operative pain medication as prebed. St. Pierre Aff. § 65. Mr. SPierre alleges he informed a
doctor of this, and the doctor confirmed thegaription and stateddhhe did not know why
Nurse Greene was refusing him medicatubrf[ 68—69. The doctor allegedly said he would
speak with Nurse Greenlel.  73. Mr. St. Pierre claims that fieed several grievances against
Nurse Greene for refusing him medical treatmkeht{|{ 72, 75.

On May 11, 2014, Dr. Naqgvi saw Mr. St. Reeand prescribed Oxycodone. Pl.'s SMF 1
56. Mr. St. Pierre’s medical records indicttat he received Oxycodone on May 11 and 12,
2014. Greene Aff. { 15. Mr. St. Pierre claims thatvas not administered medication on these
dates.

On May 12, 2014, at 7:00 p.m., the pharmdicgctor contacted Nurse Greene to notify
her that Mr. St. Pierre’s Xycodone prescription was againitten without a non-formulary

request and was unauthorized. Pl.’'s SMF { 58.pHaemacy director instructed her to contact



the on-call physician for instructiold. Nurse Green spoke with on-call physician Dr. Freston at
7:30 p.m. on May 12, 2014d.Y 59. Dr. Freston discontinudiie Oxycodone and prescribed
sixty milligrams of Toradolld.

Nurse Greene then spoke with Mr. Bierre to discuss his medicatidod.  60. She
reviewed his previous sick calls and presaoips, which included Tignol, Motrin, Naproxen,
and Toradol, which are all the same class of steneidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Greene Aff.
19 18, 20. Mr. St. Pierre allegestiNurse Greene informed him that Toradol does not contain
Motrin; he claims the Toradol Nurse Greene adstared caused him to be sick and break out in
a rash. St. Pierre Aff. 1 84—86. Nurse Greene, fopae, claims that Mr. St. Pierre informed
her that he may be allergic to Motrin and shiat he had small red sgatn his neck and arm but
he was taking Motrin and eag peanut butter and was not suteat had caused the spots.
Greene Aff. { 19. Nurse Green did hetself observe any spots on hioch.

Ms. Greene testified that Mr. St. Piemérmed her that he had an outstanding
administrative remedy with respect to a surgamgsponse to which he had to yet to receive.
Greene Aff. § 22. Ms. Greene claimed that stieved up with the administrative remedies
coordinator and passed along.N8t. Pierre’s concernkl. She testified that Mr. St. Pierre never
stated that any of the adminidtve remedies were with respect to her. Defs.” SMF | 68. Mr. St.
Pierre contends that he discussed with Nurse Greene his multiple grievances against her. St.
Pierre Aff. 9 78.

5. Tawanna Furtick, RN

Tawanna Furtick is a registeradrse and currently a sup&wr for CMHC and assigned

to MacDougall. Pl.’'s SMF { 70. During the nedat time period, she worked at MacDoughll.

171
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On July 15, 2014, Nurse Furtick saw Mr. St. Pierre to address complaints of pain in his
right foot.1d. § 73. She evaluated him, changed thesiingson his foot, and referred him to a
medical doctorld. She saw him again the following day for a scheduled dressing chdnfje.
74. Mr. St. Pierre asked her about an apprpeading with the utilization review committee
(“URC"). Id. She changed the dressing and referred him to the URC tdirse.

On July 26, 2014, she saw Mr. St. Pierre agatiter another nurdead inadvertently
administered to him another inmate’s medicatldny 75. She contacted the on-call doctor for
instructions on takig his vital signsld. I 75. She again saw him on December 5, 2014, for
swelling of his left footld. { 76. She changed the dressing anfbot and took his vital signs.
Id. She administered medication to hire-g¢. Oxycodone, Neuronton, Tylenol, Bactrim, and
Keflex—on numerous occasions and claimstaodtave withheld medication from hiral. 9
77-78. Nurse Furtick believes trsdte provided him with adequateedical care and acted at all
times professionallyid. {1 81-82.

Nurse Furtick served as the health ssgwiemedies coordinator at MacDougall from
approximately 2011 until 201%d. T 79. She testified, and Mr. SteRie does not contest, that
she did not personally respond to or deny anyliofSt. Pierre’s administrative remedies during
her tenure as coordinatéturtick Aff. 13, Defs.” SMF, Ex. 5, ECF No. 103-7.

B. Procedural Background

On December 12, 2014, Mr. St. Pierre, proceegdnagse filed this lawsuit, ECF No. 1,
and subsequently filed an Amended ComplaaCF No. 39. This remains the operative
Complaint.

Mr. St. Pierre initially sued various offals and officers employed by the Connecticut

State Department of Corrémt under 42 U.S.C 88 1983, 1985, and 1986, alleging violations of

11



the First and Eighth Amendments and assgntiegligence and mexil malpractice under
Connecticut State law.

Upon initial review under 28.S.C. § 1915A(b), the Court permitted the Section 1983
claims of retaliation to proceed against defensi&urses Martin, Furtick, and Greene and the
deliberate indifference to medical needs ab asthe state law claims of negligence and
medical malpractice to proceed against Nu@Ge=ene, Furtick, and Martin and Drs. Berkawitz
and Sathe in their individual and official eagties. ECF No. 12. All other claims were
dismissed.

The Court subsequently appointezlinsel to represent Mr. St. Piem® bono ECF No.

60.

Defendants moved to dismiss. ECF No. Bloe Court dismissed Mr. St. Pierre’s
negligence claims in their entirety and dismisktdSt. Pierre’s medical malpractice claims as
to Defendants in their official capacities. Hisrsonal capacity medical malpractice claims were
allowed to proceed. ECF No. 80.

The parties engaged in factual discovery on $4r Pierre’s (1) First Amendment claims
of retaliation against Nurségartin, Furtick, and Greene; XEighth Amendment claims of
deliberate indifference to serious medical needsnat)Nurses Martin, Greene, Furtick and Drs.
Berkowitz and Sathe; and (3) medical malpraatieéms against Nurses Martin, Greene, Furtick
and Drs. Berkowitz and Sathe. All claims against Defendants in their personal capacities.

Defendants now move for summary judgmé&CF No. 103. The Court heard oral

argument on August 9, 2018. ECF No. 119.
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I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court will grant a motion for summary judgmt if the record shows no genuine issue
as to any material fact, and the movant isitkat to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(a). The moving party bears the initial lmraf establishing the absence of a genuine
dispute of material facCelotex Corp. v. Cartretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The non-moving
party may defeat the motion by producing sufficigpecific facts to establish that there is a
genuine issue of matetifact for trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ine77 U.S. 242, 249
(1986). “[T]he mere existence sbmealleged factual dispute betwethie parties will not defeat
an otherwise properly supported motion for sumnpaagigment; the requirement is that there be
no genuineissue ofmaterialfact.” Id. at 247—48. The moving party may satisfy this burden by
pointing out to the district couan absence of evidence tgport the nonmowig party’s case.
See PepsiCo, Inc. v. Coca-Cola C2il5 F.3d 101, 105 (2d Cir. 200Pef curiamn).

When a motion for summary judgment igoported by documentary evidence and sworn
affidavits and “demonstrates the absence gérauine issue of material fact,” the nonmoving
party must do more than vaguelysed the existence of some uasiied disputed material facts
or “rely on conclusory allegatior® unsubstantiated speculatioRdbinson v. Concentra
Health Servs., Inc781 F.3d 42, 44 (2d Cir. 2015) (¢itan omitted). The party opposing the
motion for summary judgment “must come fordiavith specific evidence demonstrating the
existence of a genuine dispute of material fddt;"see also Atkinson v. RinaJd:15-cv-913
(DJS), 2016 WL 7234087, at *1 (D. Conn. D&d, 2016) (holding nonmoving party must
present evidence that would allow reasonabletoifind in his favor to defeat motion for
summary judgmentPelletier v. Armstrong3:99-cv-1559 (HBF), 2007 WL 685181, at *7 (D.

Conn. Mar. 2, 2007) (“[A] nonmoving party mystesent ‘significant mbative evidence to
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create genuine issue of teaal fact.”) (quotingSoto v. Meachun8:90-cv-270 (WWE), 1991
WL 218481, at *6 (D. Conn. Aug. 28, 1991)).
1. DISCUSSION

Defendants argue that Mr. $ierre cannot demonstrate aggnuine issues of material
fact exist as to whether Drs. Sathe and Berkoand Nurses Greene, Martin, and Furtick acted
with deliberate indifference to his serious mediexds. Defs.’ Br. at 16. They also argue that
Mr. St. Pierre cannot establish by admissiVidence unlawful refation under the First
Amendment as against Nurgeseene, Martin, and Furticld. at 21. Defendants assert
immunity from suit under the doctrired qualified immunity more broadlyd. at 26, and that
Mr. St. Pierre’s medical malactice claims are barred by stiary immunity under Section 4-
165(a) of the Connecticut General Statuigisat 30. With respect tthe state law claims,
Defendants argue that, should Mr. St. Pierre’s federal claims fail to withstand summary
judgment, the Court should decline to exersigpplemental jurisdiction over Mr. St. Pierre’s
medical malpractice claims.

Mr. St. Pierre argues that, through Mr. SerR’s testimony, he has carried his burden
with respect to his deliberate indifference claBee, e.gPl.’s Opp’n Br. a© (citing Mr. St.
Pierre’s affidavit). He argues that there are geelyidisputed issues of material fact as to
whether Nurses Martin, Greene, and Flrtiolawfully retalated against hinid. at 11. Finally,
Mr. St. Pierre argues that Deféants have misapplied Conneatitaw with respect to his
medical malpractice claim. Pl.8pp’n Br. at 5. He asserts that where the conduct at issue was
“wanton, reckless or malicious,” as he allegesas here, no further process is necessary for a

viable medical malpractice claind. The Court disagrees.
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A. Deliberate Indifference

The Eighth Amendment prohibitee infliction of “cruel @ad unusual punishments.” U.S.
Const. amend VIII. This includes punishments that “involve the unnecessary and wanton
infliction of pain.” Gregg v. Georgia428 U.S. 153, 173 (1976). In order to establish an Eighth
Amendment claim arising out of inadequatedimal care, a prisongiaintiff must prove
“deliberate indifference to [the plaintiff's] serious medical neeHstelle v. Gamble429 U.S.
97, 104 (1976).

The standard of deliberate indiffecenincludes both subjective and objective
components. “First, the alleged deprivation nhestin objective terms, ‘sufficiently serious.”
Hathaway v. Coughlin37 F.3d 63, 66 (2d Cir. 1994) (citations omitted). Second, the defendant
“must act with a sufficiently culpable state of mintd”

1. Objective

The objective, “medical need’ element measuhesseverity of thalleged deprivation”
of medical careSmith v. Carpente316 F.3d 178, 183—-84 (2d Cir. 20@8itations omitted). In
assessing the objective prong, the Court mustmate (a) “whether th prisoner was actually
deprived of adequate medical care,” and"@)ether the inadequacy in medical care is
sufficiently serious” to constita a constitutional violatiorsalahuddin467 F.3d at 279-80.
These inquiries are highly fact-specifgee Smith316 F.3d at 185 (citation omitted).

a. Inadequate Medical Care

The Second Circuit has explained that:

[T]he Supreme Court has noted [thHte prison official’s duty is
only to provide reasonable car€hus prison officials who act
reasonably [in response to an inmate-health risk] cannot be found
liable under the Cruel and UnusuBunishments Clause, and,

conversely, failing to take reasonable measures in response to a
medical condition can lead to liability.
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Salahuddin467 F.3d at 279-80 (citations and interabtation marks omitted). Accordingly, a
plaintiff must establish that heas denied reasonable carér@asonable measures” in response
to a medical condition.

I Dr. Berkowitz

Mr. St. Pierre argues that DBerkowitz has deprived him of adequate medical care by
misdiagnosing his injuries and routinely refusingdeevaluate the injurto his foot. Pl.’s Opp’n
Br. at 9. He claims that, during his first vigiith Dr. Berkowitz, Dr. Bekowitz concluded that
he did not have a fracture and that therinwould heal withoutnedical interventionld. Mr. St.
Pierre further claims that he filed grievancesragto have his injuriese-examined but was not
seen. He claims that he has frequentkedsor medical attention and it was denied.

The record, however, does not support tledsiens. Defendants have submitted medical
records that show that, after Dr. Berkowitzated Mr. St. Pierre iMarch 2012, Dr. Berkowitz
treated him again in May, June)ylland October of 2012 for ailments related to his foot. Mr. St.
Pierre does not refute thesediwal records or Dr. Berkowitz'®stimony as to their veracity;
rather, Mr. St. Pierre assertageally that, despite his manygueests, he was denied further
treatment for what he alleges wasisdiagnosed injury to his toe.

Mr. St. Pierre maintains that he shouldd®een treated more frequently or more
expeditiously than he was. In support of thguanent, he relies on the alleged submission of
multiple complaints and grievances seekimgtment, but has produced no evidence suggesting
his toe was, in fact, broken or othase required further treatment.

Indeed, he cites a petition for a writledbeas corpusiled in state ourt to order the
DOC to provide him with his desired surgery. St. Pierre Aff. § 17. This filing, however, is not of

sufficient probative value on whether Dr. Berkowd#ed “to take reasonable measures in

16



response to [Mr. St. Pier's] medical condition.Salahuddin467 F.3d at 280. Even if it had
sufficient probative value, this filing would nbé admissible evidene trial because any
probative value would be substantially ouigVed by its potential to mislead or unduly
prejudice the juryCf. Vermont Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ciccgn¥o. 3:09-cv-00445 (VAB), 2015 WL
4094174, at *3 (D. Conn. July 7, 201(Einding that the probative @ence of persal injuries
would be outweighed by the damg®f unfair prejudice or misleady the jury on the question of
whether an employer-employee relationstxgsted (citing Fed. R. Evid. 403)).

Just as importantly, Mr. SRierre has failed to estabilisthrough admissible evidence,
the baseline standard of medical cai r. Berkowitz allegedly breacheSee Estelle429
U.S. at 106 (“Medical malpractice does not become a constitutionali@rotaerely because the
victim is a prisoner.”)Bryant v. Wright451 Fed. App’x 12, 14 (2d Cir. 2011) (affirming the
trial court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim where the complaint acknowledges that prison
doctors were “trying to stop” thmedical issue, the plaintiff Haeceived treatment, and that
allegations that the treatments had so far been unsucceSsfaihce v. Armstrond.43 F.3d
698, 703 (2d Cir. 1998) (“It is well-establisheatimere disagreement over the proper treatment
does not create a constitutional claimsgg also Barnes v. Anders@®2 F.3d 150, 159 (2d Cir.
1999) (providing that “expert medical opinion evidens usually required to show the cause of
an injury or disease because the medical effeth®@muman system of the infliction of injuries
is generally not within the spheretbie common knowledge of the lay persorGpld v. Dalkon
Shield Claimants TrusNo. B—82—cv—-383, 1998 WL 351456, at *3 (D. Conn. June 15, 1998)
(“Expert testimony is required when the fadtoantent of the underlgg issues is not found
within the laypersors common knowledgand experience.”uchowicz v. United State®70 F.

Supp. 15, 19 (D. Conn. 1994) (requiring that testignsatisfy admissibility standards set by
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Federal Rules of Evidence 702 and 104 and in dodet to properly assighe trier of fact in
determining medical causation).

Absent credible testimony regarding Mr. Bierre’s alleged medical issue, his mere
disagreement with prison officials about what constitutes appropriate care does not rise to the
level of a constitutional violatiorChance 143 F.3d at 703 (“It is well-established that mere
disagreement over the proper treaht does not create a constatl claim.”). Mr. St. Pierre
thus has failed to rebut the presumption of wlidfforded to the judgment of prison doctors,
because, again, he has not offered any evidence of “such a substantial departure from accepted
professional judgment, practice or standard® akemonstrate th#éte person responsible
actually did not base thaecision on such judgmentNails v. Laplante596 F. Supp. 2d 475,

480 (D. Conn. 2009) (citingvhite v. Napolegr897 F.2d 103, 113 (3d Cir. 1990)). It is well-

settled that “[s]o long as the treant given is adequate, the fétat a prisoner might prefer a
different treatment does not give rigean Eighth Amendment violationChance 143 F.3d at

703.

Mr. St. Pierre’s suggestion,ahDr. Berkowitz’s treatmenwas a departure from accepted
professional judgment because of the allegegndisis of an unnamed doctor who examined him
before Dr. Berkowitz, does not create a genuisputed issue. This purported evidence fails in
at least two ways. First, it ihrsay and not admissible eviderseel_ewis v. Town of
Waterford 239 F.R.D. 57, 60 (D. Conn. 2006) {img that a party “cannot rely on
inadmissible hearsay in opposing a motion fanswary judgment . . . absent a showing that
admissible evidence will be available at trial” (quotiigack v. S. Connecticut State UniR4
F. Supp. 2d 370, 374 (D. Conn. 2006g);Batoh v. McNeil-PPC, Inc167 F. Supp. 3d 296, 314

(D. Conn. 2016) (declining to adniitto evidence hearsay statents where the plaintiff was
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unable to show that the proféel statements fell within an exception to the hearsay rule).
Second, even if it was not hearsay, this testiradage would only be probative of the state of
Mr. St. Pierre’s foot at the time of his inyyrbut would not be suffiently probative, without
being unduly prejudicial, of the medical caughsequently provided by Dr. Berkowi€.

Ciccone No. 3:09-cv-00445 (VAB), 2015 WL 409417&,*3 (finding that the probative
evidence of personal injuries would be outyted by the dangers of unfair prejudice or
misleading the jury on the question of whetheemiployer-employee relationship existed (citing
Fed. R. Evid. 403)). The Court need oredit these conclusory allegatiofge Brown v. Eli

Lilly & Co., 654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011) (providingtta court may disregard conclusory
allegations at the summary judgment stage).

The Supreme Court has made plain that wiggttment or whether a prison doctor should
have provided treatment “is a classic exampla ofatter for medical judgment,” and does not
represent cruel and unusual punishmgstelle 429 U.S. at 107. Mr. SPierre’s personal
opinion about the appropriateness of his treatrtieerefore surely cenot give rise to a
cognizable Eighth Amendment claim.

Mr. St. Pierre thus has failed to provide dmissible evidence necessary to create a
genuine issue as to whether Berkowitz deprived him of adgiate medical care. A lay juror
then has no basis to judge whetbe. Berkowitz should have seen Mr. St. Pierre more than he
did; whether Dr. Berkowitz was appropriatelydagssing the issues about which Mr. St. Pierre
complained; whether other actions should have baeam; whether the records that were taken
were sufficiently detailed; whether x-rays would/baievealed the particular injury at issue;

whether Dr. Berkowitz, through his action oaation, caused “unreasonalielay” given the
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injury alleged; whether there was probativedence that Dr. Berkowitanderstood the alleged
severity of the injury; and whethle appropriately relied on da®ailable to him, for example.

After reviewing the record, Mr. St. Pierre Haged to “set forthspecific facts showing
that there is a genuine issue for trial” asvteether Dr. Berkowitz deprived him of reasonable
medical careAnderson477 U.S. at 248. Summary judgmémerefore is granted on Mr. St.
Pierre’s deliberate indifferee claim as to Dr. Berkowitz.

. Dr. Sathe

Mr. St. Pierre argues that the three susgeperformed by Dr. $lae deprived him of
adequate medical care. He asserts that thee@der 2013 surgery was improper, only partial,
and that Dr. Sathe removed the wrong sidhefbone, exacerbating Mst. Pierre’s condition.
Pl.’s Opp’n. Br. at 15. He claims that despit® taddition surgeries tworrect” the earlier one,
each surgery left him in more pain and thelfswagery resulted in nerve damage and left his
foot “deformed.”Id.

As discussed above, Mr. Stelie’s claim against Dr. SatHails as a matter of law
because he fails to offer an evidentiary bassugport the claim. Other than a mere conclusion,
he provides no foundation for the proposition thatSathe was under a duty to perform a
surgery he failed to perform; neither does Mr.F8érre provide a basis for how he would know,
the internal workings of the human footraw treat its abnormalities, and what can cause
enduring trauma to the foddee Estelle429 U.S. at 106 (“Medical n@actice does not become
a constitutional violation merelyelsause the victim is a prisoner.Tindal v. Goord 340 Fed.
App’x 12, 13 (2d Cir. 2009) (affirming dismissal of the plaintiff’'s deliberate indifference claim
where the plaintiff did not deny treatment on various occasidosgs v. Vive$23 Fed. App’X

48, 50 (2d Cir. 2013) (affirming dismissal where ftiaintiff relied on the fact that the prison
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doctor initially prescribed Motrito relieve the plaintiff's painrad did not order an x-ray of the
plaintiff's hand until several d& later, finding this was a matter of “medical judgmer&y.the
Second Circuit held iBarnes v. Andersor202 F.3d 150 (2d Cir. 1999), “expert medical opinion
evidence is usually required tbawv the cause of an injury or disease because the medical effect
on the human system of the infliction of injurieggenerally not witim the sphere of the

common knowledge of the lay persoit’ at 159;see also Gold1998 WL 351456, at *3

(“Expert testimony is required when the fadtoantent of the underlgg issues is not found

within the laypersors common knowledgand experience.”).

Mr. St. Pierre therefore has failed to raisa@abte issue as to whether Doctor Sathe acted
with deliberate indifference to Mr. St. Pierrssrious medical needs, and judgment is granted
accordingly.

iii. Nurse Martin

Although Mr. St. Pierre states thhere remain genuinely disgat issues of material fact
as to whether Nurse Martin wesliberately indifferent to hiserious medical needs, Mr. St.
Pierre fails to offer “specifi€acts” supported by admissible eviderof a genuine issue for trial.
See Andersq77 U.S. at 248&ccord Brown 654 F.3d at 358 (providing that a court may
disregard conclusory allegations at the swamnjudgment stage); St. Pierre Aff. § (“I
complained that Martin had been intentionatifficting pain upon me by refusing to provide me
with medical care.”).

Summary judgment therefore is granted on $ir Pierre’s deliberate indifference claim

as to Nurse Martin.
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V. Nurse Greene

Mr. St. Pierre argues that tleeare genuinely disputed issudsnaterial facts as to
whether Nurse Greene deprived him of appropnaéical care by denying him “his prescribed
pain medication.” Pl.’s Opp’Br. at 15. The Court agrees.

Defendants have offered evidence staaws that, between May 1 and May 4, 2014,
various doctors, not including DrBerkowitz and Sathe, presceith Oxycodone to Mr. St. Pierre
for pain management. Mr. St. Pierre’s medrealords indicate that he was administered
Oxycodone from May 1, 2014, through May 9, 2014r@scribed. Nurse Greene explained that,
on May 9, 2014, the on-call physician discontinuedl@xycodone and prescribed Motrin to Mr.
St. Pierre. According to Mr. SRierre’s medical chart, Mr. SPierre’s Oxycodone prescription
did not meet CMHC policy would need to tiganged. Nurse Greene explained that Mr. St.
Pierre’s Oxycodone prescription was presedilvithout the reqgsite non-formulary
authorization—a CMHC physician can only pnese a non-formulary medication by submitting
a non-formulary request to the CMHC medicakdtor approval. Defendg however, has failed
to provide any record evidenpeobative of a CMHC policy #it speaks to how non-formulary
medications must be prescribadd that such a policy, if orexists, requires revoking a
prescription without first considering the needs of the inmate.

Mr. St. Pierre counters that, on at least tvecasions, Nurse Greene refused to provide
him with post-operative pain medication as primed. Mr. St. Pierre alleges he informed
another doctor of this refusal. He claimsave filed several grievances against Nurse Greene
for refusing to administer Oxycodone as prestilHe also testified that Nurse Greene asked
Mr. St. Pierre whether he was going to dropdnisvances, and when he declined to do so

because he continued to expae severe pain, he claim&ghbok him off the prescribed

22



medication, effective immediately. Even assognihere is a CMHC policy that would have
required that Mr. St. Pierre’s Oxycodone preswipbe revoked, the evetice, when viewed in
Mr. St. Pierre’s favor, to wibh he is entitled as the party opposing summary judgment,
demonstrates the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Nurse Greene
deprived him of adequate medical care.

V. Nurse Furtick

Mr. St. Pierre argues that tleeire genuine issue$ material fact as to whether Nurse
Furtick deprived him of adequate medical carersduFurtick has testified that she administered
Mr. St. Pierre’s medication as prescribed aader withheld medication from him. Mr. St.
Pierre, for his part, argues that Nurse Furtlenied the various grievances seeking an
administrative remedy regarding the treatment he segking for his foot. But Mr. St. Pierre has
failed to demonstrate how Nurse Furtick alidlgedenying him an administrative remedy is
probative of an alleged failure dtver part to provide him with aguate medical care, and Mr. St.
Pierre has admitted that Nurse Furtick rmredeenied him medication as prescribed.

Having drawn all inferences in favor of Mr.. Btierre, the Court findshat no reasonable
trier of fact could find in his feor and Nurse Furtick is entitldd judgment as a matter of law.
See Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cdifh U.S. 574, 587-88 (1986) (requiring
the nonmoving party must come forward wisipecific facts showing that there igianuine
issue for tria)” lest judgment should enter asnatter of lawjcitation omitted)).

b. Sufficiently Serious

The Court must now “examine how the offemglconduct is inadequate and what harm,

if any, the inadequacy has causeavil likely cause the prisonerld. at 280 (citation omitted).

For an ailment to qualify as sufficiently serious, typically, the Eighth Amendment contemplates
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“a condition of urgency’ that may resuit ‘degeneration’ or ‘extreme pain.Chance 143 F.3d
at 702. In determining the severity of the mediezed, the Court reviews a variety of factors,
including but not limited to whether the impaimnmés one that a reasonable doctor or patient
would find important and worthy tioeat, whether the condition affts the daily activities of an
individual, and whether the conditionascompanied by chronic and substantial plainat 702—
03 (citations omitted). It may also consider “diesence [or type] of adverse medical effects or
demonstrable physical injury” as well as any uscggble and very likely risk of future harm,
even if physical harm is not currently pres&mith 316 F.3d at 187-88 (citations omitted).

Mr. St. Pierre argues that Nurse Greene dedrhim of adequate medical care. To state a
deliberate indifference claim, he must alkow through credible evidence that the resulting
harm Mr. St. Pierre suffedewas sufficiently seriou$§ee Changel43 F.3d at 702 (requiring “‘a
condition of urgency’ that may rdsin ‘degeneration’ or ‘extrempain.”). Here, his claim fails
as a matter of law.

Mr. St. Pierre testified that, when askedNyrse Greene whether @uld withdraw his
grievance, he said he was “watgl experiencing severe pain@ddiscomfort” and thus would not
withdraw his requests for an administrative rem&tyPierre Aff. § 79. MrSt. Pierre has also
testified that, on two occasiorafter he complained to an @all doctor that Nurse Greene
refused to administer his medication as piibsd;, instead adminisiag Motrin, the doctor
found it appropriate to re-pseribe Oxycodone to him.

Although there is no dispute that the underlying condition of which Mr. St. Pierre suffers
is sufficiently serious, the record evidence, take true, demonstratademporary delay or
interruption in otherwise adequateedical treatment, at least asalates to Mr. St. Pierre’s pain

management, of those conditions that tasvveral” days. SPierre Aff. § 67see also Smith v.

24



Carpenter 316 F.3d 178, 186 (2d Cir. 2003) (“Where aqmer plaintiff is eceiving appropriate
on-going treatment for his condition, but, insteaddsia narrower deniaf medical care claim
based on a temporary delay or interruption éatiment, the serious medical need inquiry can
properly take into account the severity of tteporary deprivation alleged by the prisoner.”)
(citing Estelle 429 U.S. at 106).

Assuming, without deciding, that Mr. St. Pierre’s pain, absent intervention, could
produce serious complicatis if left untreated;f. Harrison v. Barkley219 F.3d 132, 137 (2d
Cir. 2000) (noting that a dental cavity is atgenerative condition” that, if left untreated
indefinitely, will likely to produce “agony and togeire more invasive and painful treatments”),
there is no evidence in this record that Mr.F8erre’s pain changed over the time he was
administered Motrin, as opposed to receiving Oxycodsee.Bilal v. White494 Fed. App’x
143, 146 (2d Cir. 2012) (finding no evidence ttnegt plaintiff’'s conditions—epilepsy and
arthritis—worsened over time) (citirigmith v. Carpentei316 F.3d 178, 187 (2d Cir. 2003)
(“The absence of adverse medical effects or denmatistphysical injury i®ne such factor that
may be used to gauge the seveoityhe medical need at issue.”)).

Mr. St. Pierre’s medical recds demonstrate that he ttaken a number of medications
for pain management. But the only evidence MatSt. Pierre suffered “extreme pain” between
the taking of Motrin and the resumption gb@scription to Oxycodone is his own testimony,
“which does no more than to recite the phrag#out any indication of the duration, location,
or nature of his pain. Furthermore, despiteess through discoveryhs complete medical
records, [he] offered none of those recordgpposition to summary judgment, and thus failed to

corroborate his allegatiomith any details, beyond the [ntageneral outline] of his medical
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history, the severity of his][suffering, or the medications he has been prescrili®i@l, 494
Fed. App’x at 146.

The “mere recitation of the formula” that keffered “extreme pain” thus falls short of
raising a genuine issue of fact as to whetherdelay of the pain medication was sufficiently
serious to rise to the level ah Eighth Amendment violatioid.

Viewing the record evidence in the light mostdeable to Mr. St. Piee, he has failed to
produce evidence that would allow a reasonabte jo find that any Defendant acted with
deliberate indifference to his serious medical nedfort v. City of New York874 F.3d 338,
343 (2d Cir. 2017) (“The Court must view any infezces drawn from the facts in the light most
favorable to the party oppositige summary judgment motion”).

Summary judgment therefore is grantedefendants’ favor on Mr. St. Pierre’s Eighth
Amendment claim.

B. RETALIATION

Mr. St. Pierre also has alleged that Nufglestin, Greene, and Furtick retaliated against
him in response to him seeking an administrative remedy for medical care.

“Courts properly approach prisoner retaliatadaims with skepticism and particular care,
because virtually any adverse action takenresjai prisoner by a prison official—even those
otherwise not rising to the level of a condtiinal violation—can be characterized as a
constitutionally prosdbed retaliatory act.Davis v. Goorgd 320 F.3d 346, 352 (2d Cir. 2003)
(internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

A plaintiff asserting a First Amendmieretaliation claim must establistpama facie
casej.e.. (1) the speech or conduct svarotected; (2) the defendant took an adverse action

against him; and (3) there was a causal connmebgtween the adversetian and the protected
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speechld. A plaintiff must also estdish that the “defendants weeaware of the protected
activity.” Pavone v. Puglisi353 Fed. Appx. 622, 625 (2d Cir. 2009%jith respect to the last
element, a plaintiff must show the “punishmesats motivated, in whole or in part, by [the
plaintiff’'s conduct—in other wordghat the prison officials’ actits were substantially improper
retaliation.”Graham v. Hendersqi89 F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir. 1996). In reaching a determination as
to causation, it should weigh facsancluding “(i) the temporgbroximity between the protected
activity and the alleged retal@ay act; (ii) the inmate’s priogood disciplinaryrecord; (iii)
vindication at a hearing on the ttex; and (iv) statements lbtlye defendant concerning his
motivation.” Baskerville v. Blgt224 F. Supp. 2d 723, 732 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (ci@gon v.
Coughlin 58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995)). To prevailtbe claim, a plaintiff must also show
by a preponderance of the evidence thatiéfendants were “persdhainvolved—that is,

[they] directly participated—in thalleged constitutional deprivationgsronowski v.
Spencerd24 F.3d 285, 293 (2d Cir. 2005ge alsaNright v. Smith21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d Cir.
1994).

Furthermore, “[0]nly retaliatory conduct that would deter a similarly situated individual
of ordinary firmness from exercising his or lenstitutional rights constitutes an adverse action
for a claim of retaliation.Davis, 320 F.3d at 353. In making thdetermination, a court’s inquiry
must be “tailored to the different circumstanaesvhich retaliation claims arise,” bearing in
mind that “[p]risoners may begaired to tolerate more . than average citizens, before a
[retaliatory] action taken against them is considered advddse.”

Once a plaintiff has proven there are genusseiés of material fact on all three of the
elements of a retaliation actiahg burden shifts to the defendant to prove that the plaintiff

would have received the same treatment “a@mehe absence afie protected conduct.”
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Graham 89 F.3d at 79 (citintylount Healthy City Sch. DisBd. of Educ. v. Doylet29 U.S.
274, 287 (1977)). “[I]f taken for both proper and moper reasons, state action may be upheld if
the action would have been takessed on the proper reasons aloie.{citations omitted). The
Second Circuit has recognized thizis defense is often approgely applied in the context of
prison administratiorSher v. Coughlin739 F.2d 77, 82 (2d Cir. 1984) (noting that a finding of
sufficient proper reasons unddount Healthy'is readily drawn in the context of prison
administration where we have been cautione@tognize that ‘prison officials have broad
administrative and discretionary authority over the institutions they manage’™) (qistswadt v.
Helms 459 U.S. 460, 467 (1983kceded from on other grounds $andin v. Connes15 U.S.
472, 481-84 (1995)).

Given the “particular care” with which prisoner retaliation claims are viewed, a plaintiff
may rely on circumstantial evidence to prove theialiation claims, sucas temporal proximity
of events, but in doing so, the plaintiff alsoshusually provide some non-conclusory evidence
that raises an inference of “retaliat@yimus” in order to proceed to triélf. Colon 58 F.3d at
873 (noting that the Court would not have gealhsummary judgment if the only evidence of
retaliation had been plaintiffgood behavior and temporal proximity between the lawsuit and
the disciplinary charges but pléififiwas entitled to a trial because he provided evidence that the
disciplinary charge was based on false informatiseg; alsd-aulk v. Fishey 545 Fed. App’x
56, 58-59 (2d Cir. 2013) (affirming grant of summarggment where plaiiff failed to provide
any evidence, circumstantial or othwise, of retaliatory intentBennett v. Goord343 F.3d at
138-39 (2d Cir.2003) (noting that direstidence of retaliatory inté may not be required where

the circumstantial evidence is “sufficiently compelling”).
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As a preliminary matter, Mr. St. Pierre argubat Nurses Furtick, Greene, and Martin
have retaliated against himwnolation of the First Amendment in his opposition memorandum.
But his briefing lacks argumentsoth factual and legal, with resgt to these claims as they
apply to Nurses Furtick or Greene. The Coutirider no obligation to “review portions of the
record in response to a motion, where the . . osiipn papers do not make specific reference to
... the record.” D. Conn. L. Civ. R. 7(a)(3ge also Hubert v. Dep’t of CoriNo. 3:17-CV-
00248 (VAB), 2018 WL 3350334, at *3 (D. Conn. JAly2018) (declining to reconsider the
plaintiff's continuing violation theory becaushke provided no citation to allegations in the
complaint to support the theonkyline Steel, LLC101 F. Supp. 3d at 400 (requiring citation
to record evidence on summary judgment) (cititmyartis Corp 271 F.3d at 1046)The Court
therefore deems the claims as to Nurses Furtick and Greene abar@smeaul v. Bank of Am.,
N.A, No. 3:11-cv-0081 (JCH), 2011 WL 5570789F2atD. Conn. Nov. 16, 2011) (deeming the
plaintiff’'s claim abandoned when the plainfifiiled to address it in opposition to summary
judgment).

In any event, the Court will adess the claims against alfdle nurses on the merits. All
of these claims fail as a matter of law.

1. Protected Speech

Mr. St. Pierre attests that fiked a number of grievanceslated to inadequate medical

treatment of his foot. Mr. St. &ire therefore has raised a genuine dispute as to whether he

engaged in protected activitgee Davis320 F.3d at 352-53 (“[T]he filing of prison grievances

¢ Now represented by counsel, Mr. St. Piernreadonger due the specsdlicitude afforded to

pro selitigants in this CircuitSee Ortiz v. Cornetf@67 F.2d 146, 148 (2d Cir. 1989)
(recognizing that, once represented by counsel, a litigant may be “penalized by strict rules” of
procedure).
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is a constitutionally protected activity'YcKethan v. New York State Dep’t of Corr. Seris.
10 Civ. 3826 (NRB), 2011 WL 4357375, at *6 (S.D.NSept. 16, 2011) (“There can be little
doubt that [prisoner] plaintiff's informal compldagand formal grievances constitute protected
activity under the First Amendment.”) (cititg@raham v. Henderso®9 F.3d 75, 80 (2d Cir.
1996)).
2. Knowledge
a. Nurse Martin
Mr. St. Pierre testified that, in SeptemB6€.3, he filed a grievance with the Connecticut
Board of Examiners against Nurse Matrtin foravhe described as henprofessional manner.
He explained that Nurse Martin had intentibnanflicted pain upon him by refusing to provide
him with medical care. After noticing Nurse Martin staring and laughing at him on several
occasions, Mr. St. Pierre testified that, intder 2013, Nurse Martin threatened him, sayitg:
you don’t stop the bullshit and writing grievances, | will make your life a living hell.” St. Pierre Aff.
1 57.Although Nurse Martin disputes that sheer threatened him, Mr. St. Pierre has
demonstrated a genuinely disputed issue of nztact as to Nurse Man’s knowledge of Mr.
St. Pierre’s grievance against her.
b. Nurse Furtick
The Court will assume, without deciding, timat has submitted evidence that would
allow an inference that Nurse Furtikkew he had engaged in protected spegeh, e.gSt.
Pierre Aff. § 33 (“All of the grievances wedenied by Defendant Tawanna . . . .").
C. Nurse Greene
Mr. St. Pierre testified thdtte spoke with Nurse Greene abaugrievance that he filed
against her. It was during theenversation, he testified, thatesasked him if he was going to

drop his grievance, and he replied no. Nurse Brdms recognized that she and Mr. St. Pierre
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discussed an outstanding request for aniagtrative remedy. MiSt. Pierre thus has
demonstrated a triable issue as to Nurse Gredmswledge of Mr. St. Brre having engaged in
protected speech.
3. Adverse Action
a. Nurse Martin

Although Mr. St. Pierre has offed evidence sufficient to alloa reasonable juror to find
that he had engaged in protected speech atd\ilrse Martin knew of at least one grievance
that he had filed against her, he has pravide evidence that any harm resulted from Nurse
Martin’s alleged threatening behavior. Mr. SerfPeé has explained that he feared that Nurse
Martin would make false allegations againstdssa form of reprisabut notwithstanding these
concerns, he continued to seek administratwveedies. By only assary a single conclusory
allegation that Nurse Martin continued to haraiss, Mr. St. Pierre has not made clear what
harm, if any, materialized as a résaf Nurse Martin’s alleged thregbee Gill v. Pidlypchak
389 F.3d 379, 383 (2d Cir. 2004) (suggesting thatpfwposes of Article Ill standing, a prisoner
plaintiff asserting retaliation undg 1983 absent chilled behaviogrgres “some sort of harm,”
including, for example, placing a plaintiff keeplock for geriod of weeks).

Nurse Martin’s alleged threat relating to Nbt. Pierre’s filing ofgrievances does not, on
its own, amount to actionable har8ee Bilal 494 Fed. App’x at 147 (finding that a prisoner
plaintiff's claim of retaliation failed becausie officer's comments about grievances in
combination with the officer fabricating behawabreports against theghtiff and temporarily
ignoring the plaintiff's requsts for pain medication v8anot actionable) (citin@avis, 320 F.3d
at 353 (stating that “disrespectitdmments directed at an inmatenerally do not rise to” level

of retaliation). Summary judgment theredas granted in favor of Nurse Martin.
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b. Nurse Furtick

Mr. St. Pierre’s retaliation claim against NeifSurtick fails for a simple reason: absent
allegedly chilling speech, Mr. SRierre has failed to provide any evidence of an adverse
consequence other than Mr. Bierre’s unsubstantiated clatimat Nurse Furtick allegedly
denied his medical grievancé&ee Gil) 389 F.3d at 383 (requiring “s@sort of harm”). Mr. St.
Pierre therefore has failed taise a genuinely disputed issageto Nurse Furtick causing him
actionable harm and summary judgmergrasnted in favor of Nurse Furtick.

C. Nurse Greene

Finally, Mr. St. Pierre argudbat Nurse Greene administeérhim Toradol instead of
Oxydodone, causing him to become ill; his claim fails for lack of an adverse consequence.

Although Mr. St. Pierre has alleged that Nu@Greene informed him that she was taking
him off Oxycodone, he does ndispute that the Oxycodone peegption was cancelled and re-
written as a prescription for Toradol by someotiger than Nurse Greene. Absent from the
record is any evidence that Nurse Greene had therty to write or mody prescriptions, so to
the extent that Mr. St. Pierre claims thatrse Greene retaliated solely by virtue of
administering medication othdran Oxycodone, there is no esitte that Nurse Greene can be
fairly said to be “personallinvolved” in the alleged inpy within the meaning of § 1983.
Gronowskj 424 F.3d at 293.

Moreover, as discussed aboir, St. Pierre has profferet evidence to suggest that
the pain he experienced differed—qualitativehlyquantitatively—whileprescribed Oxycodone,
as opposed to any other pain management meaticdti fact, Mr. St. Pierre himself apparently
concedes that his pain maintained some level of consistency acrosSdame.gSt. Pierre Aff.

1 87 (“The following day came and went and | was seen by a doctor detgpthe fact that |
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was still experiencing a great anmt of pain.”). Mr.St. Pierre has testified that, on several
occasions, after being taken off Oxycodonewhs re-prescribed the medication by the on-call
physician, which could allow a re@sable juror to infer thatrgthing less that Oxycodone was
insufficient to manage Mr. St. Pierre’s pain.tButhe prison contexthe Second Circuit has
specially cautioned that a prison®aintiff must offer more thn “circumstantial proof” to

prevail on a First Amendment retaliation clai@olon 58 F.3d at 873%ee also Graham v.
Henderson89 F.3d 75, 81 (2d Cir. 1996) (reversthg granting of summary judgment where
the plaintiff offered evidence the plaintiff's rgon of events was cmborated by the testimony
of seven other inmates, the plaintiff was ableravide the list inmagtehe had collected who
would be willing to represent other inmateshe grievance process, and prison officials were,
after a search, unable to provide tileged petition they say ththe plaintiff was circulating in
violation of a regulation barring the ungj of a work slowdown or stoppage).

To the extent that Mr. St. Pierre takes essuth what he may characterize as Nurse
Greene’s decision to adminisfeoradol notwithstanding Mr. St. &ire’s warning that he is
allergic to Motrin, Nurse Greene testified thag slonsulted Mr. St. Piergerecords to ensure it
was medically appropriate to administer thegeribed medication, and exercising her medical
judgment decided to do so. In light of the recevitlence, Mr. St. Pierresonclusory allegation
that he is “allergic” to Motrin is insufficient toreate a genuine issue. tiNmly is Mr. St. Pierre’s
lay testimony insufficient to establish a medidalgnosis but it similarly cannot suffice to
establish that the Toradol caused him to becom8ak Barnes202 F.3d at 159 (providing that
“expert medical opinion evidenceusually required to show tlrause of an injury or disease
because the medical effect on the human systeatreahfliction of injuries is generally not

within the sphere ahe common knowledge tifie lay person”).

33



Furthermore, despite access to his medmabrds through the discovery process, Mr. St.
Pierre has done nothing more thzaldly assert that he is allecgo Motrin and became ill,
which he has also described in only the mastneintary of terms, after being administered
Toradol.Colon 58 F.3d at 873 (indicatingdh if “circumstantial evidnce represented the sum
total of [the plaintiff's] proof,”in the context of a prisoner phiff's claim of retaliation under
the First Amendment, summary judgmemdy be appropriate) (citation omitte&)aherty v.
Coughlin 713 F.2d 10, 13 (2d Cir. 1983) (“While marenclusory allegations or denials are
insufficient to withstand a motion for summamglgment once the moving party has set forth a
documentary case, caution should be exerdrsgdanting summary judgment where state of
mind is in issue or when the party opposing itmotion has been denieglevant discovery.”
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (citirammdmark Land Co. v. Spragug0l F.2d
1065, 1070 (2d Cir. 1983)¢f. Bilal, 494 Fed. App’x at 146 (affirming summary judgment
where the plaintiff, having had access to his ma&diecords, failed to corroborate his testimony
that otherwise was conclusory).

By way of example, Nurse Greene noted in Bl Pierre’s medicakcords that he has
an “APAP sensitivity.” May 9, 2014, Notation 24. Mr. St. Pierre has made no effort
whatsoever to bridge the evidentiary degtween a drug “sensitivity” and an “allergyiat
would allow for a reasonable inference that@gdsensitivity can cause an allergic reaction.
Neither has he established what an allergicti@ato Motrin typically looks like, whether the
symptoms are severe, whether they persist tiweror are progressive, or whether the physical
manifestations of such an outlk are generalizable in thesfiinstance. Absent any such
evidence, no reasonable juror could infer caasdetween Nurse Greemllegedly revoking his

prescription to Oxycodone and Mst. Pierre falling ill from arallergic reaction to Motrin,
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which he has acknowledged taking before without isSee, e.g.Pl.'s SMF § 52 (“Nurse Green
did not administer the pain medication as prbgd and Plaintiff we.administered Motrin
instead.”).

Thus, even if Mr. St. Pierre could establen adverse consequenother than through
evidence of mere coincidence, and he carlr®has offered no diceor “sufficiently
compelling” evidentiary basis for an infemnthat harm resulted from Nurse Greene’s
administering of Toradol to hinBennett 343 F.3d at 139. Given that Mst. Pierre continued to
file grievances, Nurse Green&snduct, whether allegedly revokj Mr. St. Pierre’s prescription
to Oxycodone or administering Toradol, is not actiongbé= Gil] 389 F.3d at 383 (requiring
“some sort of harm” absent chilled speech).

When Mr. St. Pierre’s allegjans are taken in the liginhost favorable to him and
examined with “skepticism and particular caf@s claim of retaliation agnst Nurse Greene is
insufficient to withstand summary judgmeBaskerville 224 F. Supp. 2d at 733. Mr. St. Pierre
has failed to raise a genuirssie for trial that Nurse Greesektaliatory conduct worked an
adverse conseguence that, under these csteunes, would deter “a similarly situated
individual of ordinary firmnessfrom engaging in protected speeEravis 320 F.3d at 353, and
judgment therefore is granted in fawdrNurse Greene as a matter of |&ee Matsushita Elec.
Indus. Co. 475 U.S. at 587-88 (requiring “the noowing party must come forward with
“specific facts showing that there iganuine issue for tridl lest judgment should enter as a
matter of law) (citation omitted)).

Having granted summary judgment in Defendafstvor on Mr. St. Pierre’s claims under

§ 1983, the Court does not reachigmie of qualified immunity.
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C. SUPPLEMENT JURISDICTION OVER STATE LAW CLAIMS

Mr. St. Pierre argues that 2adants engaged in medicallpractice under Connecticut
law. Defendants argue that the Court shouldidedb exercise supplemental jurisdiction over
the claim. The Court agrees.

Supplemental or pendant jurisdictioraisnatter of discretion, not of riglf&ee United
Mine Workers v. Gibhs383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966). Where all fedeclaims have been dismissed
before a trial, state claims generally shouldlisenissed without prejudicand left for resolution
by the state court§ee28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3;arnegie-Mellon Univ. v. Cohjld84 U.S. 343,
350 (1988) ( “[W]hen the federal-law claims halrepped out of the lawsuit in its early stages
and only state-law claims remain, the federal tshould decline the exercise of jurisdiction by
dismissing the case without prejudiceKplari v. New York-Presbyterian Hos@55 F.3d 118,
122 (2d Cir. 2006) (“[I]n the usual case in whadhfederal-law claimsre eliminated before
trial, the balance of factors . . . will point toward declining to exercise jurisdiction over the
remaining state-law claims.”).

Because the Court has granted summary judgoreMr. St. Pierre’s federal claims, it
declines to exercise supplemental juigidn over his remaining state law claingee, e.g.
Figueroa v. SempjeNo. 3:12-cv-00982 (VAB), 2015 WL 3444319, at *8 (D. Conn. May 28,
2015) (declining to exerciseigplemental jurisdiction). MiSt. Pierre’s “claims may be
vindicated, if at all, in state court der traditional state law principlesGiammatteo v. Newton
452 Fed. App’x 24, 30 (2d Cir. 2011) (citigker v. McCollan443 U.S. 137, 146 (1979)).

All state law claims asserted, however, are dismissed here.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above rtotion for summary judgment@RANTED.
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The Clerk of the Court is instructed to enjtedgment in favor oDefendants and close
this case.
SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 27th day of August, 2018.
/sl Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN
WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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